

### Estimating the 'Rule of Halves' for Greater Manchester



### Working in collaboration with:







### **Authors**

Mason T, Whittaker W, Dumville J, Bower P NIHR ARC-GM University of Manchester

October 2021

This study/project is funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Applied Research Collaboration Greater Manchester (ARC-GM). The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care. The Rule of Halves study has also been funded by the Cities Changing Diabetes Manchester joint working project funded by and developed in collaboration between Health Innovation Manchester and Novo Nordisk. The Cities Changing Diabetes Manchester project is part of the global Cities Changing Diabetes programme supported by Novo Nordisk, University College London (UCL) and Steno Diabetes Center.

### Contents

1.0 Background	4
2.0 Data	6
2.1 Diabetes prevalence6	
2.2 Total population estimates and rural/urban locations	
2.3 Diabetes registrations, care quality and treatment target achievement7	
2.4 Complications associated with diabetes7	
3.0 Methods 1	0
3.1 Populating the levels of the ROH10	
3.2 Comparison of prevalence estimates with diagnoses in care records for	or
population sub-groups in GM11	
3.3 Analyses of prevalence11	
3.4 Analyses of care quality11	
3.5 Analyses of treatment targets 12	
4.0 Results	3
4.1 Estimates of the ROH 13	
4.2 Assessing how the prevalent population are represented in primary care register 15	S
4.3 Regression analyses of diabetes prevalence in GM	
4.4 Analyses of care quality18	
4.5 Analyses of treatment targets21	
5.0 Discussion	6
5.1 Summary of key findings26	
5.2 Limitations	
6.0 References	8
7.0 Appendix	1

### 1.0 Background

There are 55.9 million people in the United Kingdom (UK) living in urban areas, 83.6% of the population (1). Since 1960, the urban population of the UK has grown by 14.8 million and the rural population has reduced by around 370,000 (1). These national trends mirror wider global changes (2). Demographic shifts towards urban areas have consequences that include changes in residents' occupational profiles and health behaviours, and for non-communicable chronic illnesses including diabetes (3,4).

Previous studies have shown that more than 70% of people with diabetes live in urban areas (5). Orthodox risk-factors such as body mass index (BMI), age, diet, family diabetes history and education do not fully explain differences in the diabetes risk of different economic groups of urban-residing individuals (6). The Cities Changing Diabetes (CCD) programme was established in 2014 to further understanding of the burden of diabetes and its social and cultural determinants across a range of cities globally (4).

One element of CCD is to describe the pattern of diabetes in terms of: prevalence; diagnosis; receipt of quality care; achievement of treatment targets; and diabetes health outcomes (Figure 1.1).



#### Figure 1.1: conceptual diagram of the ROH

The 'rule of halves' (ROH) originates from the observation that numbers have been observed to roughly halve at each level from prevalence to outcomes (7), suggesting gaps in appropriate identification, management and treatment of diabetes along the care pathway. In practice, the ROH might represent a broad 'rule of thumb'.

Whilst 'halving' was found to apply for the British NHS in the 1980s for chronic illnesses including diabetes, hypertension and asthma (8), more recent evidence suggests that the ROH varies between countries for diabetes. Studies from low and middle-income countries demonstrate this divergence. For example, estimates from India suggests a rule of 'two-thirds' (i.e. a better performance than halving across levels) (9), whereas evidence from Peru comparing ROH patterns in urban and rural settings suggests considerably poorer performance than halving on both care quality and treatment targets (10). Applications of the ROH from high-income settings are equally inconsistent: evidence from Denmark outlined performance far in excess of 'halving' – in particular for diagnosing diabetes and providing treatment (11). Whereas evidence from Australia indicated that the ROH does in fact generally apply for diabetes care and management (12).

Recent studies have updated historical evidence on the detailed pattern of the ROH for other chronic illnesses such as hypertension and osteoarthritis in England (13–15). However, there are no recent efforts to update historical evidence on the ROH for cities in England despite innovations in diabetes care and prevention over recent decades (16–18). This study seeks to update the existing evidence by populating the ROH for Greater Manchester in the North West of England, one of the three largest cities in England whose population was estimated to be 2.8 million in 2016.

### **2.0 Data**

The ROH requires data on: diabetes prevalence rates and the estimated size of the population; the number of individuals with a recorded diagnosis of diabetes in administrative records; the number of individuals receiving appropriate diabetes care quality; and the number of individuals achieving appropriate diabetes treatment targets.

#### 2.1 Diabetes prevalence

We obtained estimated prevalence of diabetes using individual-level data at wave 7 of the UK Household Longitudinal Survey (UKHLS) (covering 2015-2017) (19). The survey started in 2009, initially comprising 40,000 households across the UK. The survey captures detailed information on mental and physical health in addition to a range of other topics including on urbanity/rurality of respondents' households. It contains large sample of individuals and its sampling methodology allows for examination of a nationally representative group of individuals. We used data for GM only to derive an estimate of the mean annual prevalence of diabetes in GM for the period 2015-17. We also retained data on three comparable cities (Liverpool, Sheffield and Hull) in the north of England in order to be able to compare to GM estimates.

### 2.2 Total population estimates and rural/urban locations

We used estimates of population size at Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) level by single year of age and sex for England in mid-2016 from the Office for National Statistics (ONS) (20). CCGs are responsible for the commissioning of health services for a defined regional area in England. We combined CCG population size data with ONS geographic data to capture urban and rural spread, to ensure that GM maps to urban areas only (21). Additional detail on these data is provided in the appendix.

### 2.3 Diabetes registrations, care quality and treatment target achievement

We obtained practice-level data for England in 2016-17 from the National Diabetes Audit (NDA) (22). NDA measures the effectiveness of diabetes care against National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) Clinical Guidelines and Quality Standards in England and Wales (23). These data contain information on the number of individuals: with a diabetes diagnosis recorded in administrative records; receiving appropriate care quality; and achieving appropriate treatment targets.

Care quality and treatment target achievement are captured in the NDA via indicators of eight care processes (which should be provided in line with clinical guidelines), and indicators of three treatment targets (that are appropriate for people with diabetes) (Table 2.1). There are then two summary indicators of the numbers of patients achieving all eight care processes and three treatment targets respectively. We use these latter summary indicators to measure care quality and treatment target achievement in this study.

#### 2.4 Complications associated with diabetes

We used CCG-level data for England on complications associated with diabetes derived from the CCG Outcome Indicator Set (24). These data measure:

"The number of people with diabetes identified by the NDA who were alive at the start of the follow-up period who have a HES record of NDA complications during the follow-up period, using ICD-10 primary or secondary diagnosis codes or primary and secondary OPCS codes."

These are summarised in Table 2.2.

# Table 2.1: Appropriate Care Processes and Treatment Targets recorded in the NDA

NICE recommended Annual Care Processes			
Process	Detail		
HbA1c	blood test for glucose control		
Blood Pressure	measurement for cardiovascular risk		
Serum Cholesterol	blood test for cardiovascular risk		
Serum Creatinine	blood test for kidney function		
Urine Albumin/Creatinine Ratio	urine test for early kidney disease		
Foot Risk Surveillance	foot examination for foot ulcer risk		
Body Mass Index	measurement for diabetes management		
Smoking History	question for cardiovascular risk		
NICE recommended Treatme	nt Targets		
Target	Rationale		
HbA1c < 58 mmol/mol	target HbA1c reduces the risk of all diabetic complications		
Blood pressure < 140/80	target blood pressure reduces the risk of cardiovascular complications and reduces the progression of eye disease and kidney disease		
Cholesterol < 5mmol/L	target cholesterol reduces the risk of cardiovascular complications		

 Table 2.2: Diagnosis and procedure code types used to identify hospital

 admissions for diabetes complications

CCG OIS Indicator 2.8: type	CCG OIS Indicator 2.8: types of ICD-10 (diagnosis) used by the NDA			
ICD Code Prefix	Definition			
E1x.x	Codes for Diabetic Ketoacidosis (DKA)			
l20.x	Codes for Angina			
l21.x / l22.x	Codes for Myocardial Infarction			
150.x	Codes for Heart Failure			
l6x.x	Codes for Stroke			
N18.0 / Z49.x / Z99.2	Codes for Renal Replacement Therapy (RRT)			
CCG OIS Indicator 2.8: types of OPCS4 (procedure) used by the NDA				
OPCS Code Prefix	Definition			
M01.x / X40.x	Codes for RRT			
C82.x	Codes for Retinopathy treatments			
X09.x	Codes for major Amputation			
X1x.x	Codes for minor Amputation			

We retained data on this indicator for CCGs for GM and comparison cities for the year 2017-18, which denotes the appropriate follow-up period year for this indicator for the NDA population captured in the 2016-17 data on diagnoses in care records, care quality and treatment targets.

### 3.0 Methods

### 3.1 Populating the levels of the ROH

#### Estimating mean diabetes prevalence

We combined data from wave 7 (2015-17) of the UKHLS on participants' self-reports of health conditions with information from a nurse visit assessment in waves 2 and 3 (2010-12) including measurement of glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c). We used this information to create an indicator of whether a participant had diabetes or not at wave 7 to align with the time period covered by the other data sources in this study.

We then used the UKHLS measure of area of residence to identify respondents located in GM and comparison cities. We estimated prevalence of diabetes in these two groups at wave 7 (2015-17) including corresponding confidence intervals, applying appropriate longitudinal sample weights (27).

# Estimating total diabetes prevalence registrations, care quality, treatment target achievement and complications

To estimate total population prevalence, we aggregated mid-2016 population estimates by age and sex to total figures for GM and comparison cities and applied mean prevalence estimates.

We aggregated 2016-17 data from the NDA at practice-level to aggregated totals for GM and comparison cities. These data provide the total number of: diabetes registrations; patients receiving all eight care processes; and patients achieving all three treatment targets. Data for 2017-18 on diabetes complications were also aggregated – from CCG-level to the appropriate totals for GM and comparison cities.

The aggregate figures for the ROH are summarised in tables and figures.

# 3.2 Comparison of prevalence estimates with diagnoses in care records for population sub-groups in GM

We compared how prevalence and diagnoses in care records are distributed across population sub-groups for GM to understand the representation of the prevalent diabetic population at GM general practices, in order to highlight potential issues around access to diabetes care in specific population groups.

### 3.3 Analyses of prevalence

We explored the odds of having diabetes by age, sex and deprivation and ethnic origin for GM respondents to waves 1- 7 of the UKHLS (covering 2009 to 2017), and then repeated this analysis for wave 7 (2015-17) only to align with the time period for the aggregate ROH.

Models were estimated using logistic regression in Stata IC 14.0 using longitudinal sample weights. Analyses for GM respondents in waves 1-7 included fixed effects for calendar time (wave indicators).

### 3.4 Analyses of care quality

We examined how the percentage of registered people with diabetes receiving all eight care processes (Table 2.1) according to known characteristics of practices' registered diabetic populations in GM and comparison cities using descriptive analyses.

The practice characteristics assessed were:

- age structure of the registered diabetic population (percentages of practice registered diabetic patients in the following groups - under 40; 40-64; 65-79; 80 and over);
- sex of the registered diabetic population (percentage of practice registered diabetic patients who were female);

- deprivation level (percentages of practice registered diabetic patients from the two most deprived IMD deprivation quintiles);
- ethnic group (percentage practice registered diabetic patients who were: white; minority ethnic origin; unknown ethnicity);
- the size of the registered diabetic population (binary indicators for whether a practice's registered diabetic population was: <250; 250-499; 500-749; >750).

We then used regression analyses to examine whether/how the percentage of registered people with diabetes receiving all eight care processes (appropriate care) varied significantly according to the above practice-level characteristics.

Models were estimated using linear regression in Stata IC 14.0 for the period 2015-16 to 2018-19, and analyses were repeated for 2016-17 only to align with the time period captured in the aggregate ROH. We weighted analyses by the size of practices' registered diabetic populations, included fixed effects for clinical commissioning groups (CCGs), and included year indicators for analyses of the period 2015-16 to 2018-19.

### 3.5 Analyses of treatment targets

We examined how the percentage of registered people with diabetes achieving all three treatment targets (Table 2.1) according to known characteristics of practices' registered diabetic populations in GM and comparison cities using descriptive analyses. The same practice characteristics as defined above were used in descriptive analyses.

We again used regression analyses to examine how the percentage of registered people with diabetes achieving all three treatment targets varied significantly according to the above practice-level characteristics in addition to the influence of the percentage of patients receiving appropriate care.

We performed linear regression for 2015-16 to 2018-19, and analyses were repeated for 2016-17. We weighted analyses by the size of practices' registered diabetic populations, included fixed effects for clinical commissioning groups (CCGs), and included year indicators for analyses of the period 2015-16 to 2018-19.

### 4.0 Results

### 4.1 Estimates of the ROH

#### Estimates of mean diabetes prevalence for GM respondents to the UKHLS

Diabetes prevalence in GM was estimated to be 8.58% (95% CI [6.51%; 10.6%]) for 2015-17, compared with 7.04% (95% CI [4.28%; 9.79%]) for comparison cities (Table 4.1).

### Table 4.1 Estimates of mean diabetes prevalence for GM (2015-17) derived from UKHLS

	N	Mean	95% CI
GM	1,812	8.58%	[6.51%; 10.6%]
Liverpool, Sheffield & Hull	719	7.04%	[4.28%; 9.79%]

Notes: estimated from UKHLS Wave 7 (2015-2017), longitudinal sample weights applied

Applying this prevalence value to a GM population estimate of 2.87 million (mid-2016), we would expect 246,466 people to have diabetes for 2016-17.

### Estimates of the ROH for GM

In total, 156,179 people were diagnosed with diabetes in primary care in GM for 2016-17 (t 63% of the estimated population with diabetes) (Figure 4.1; Table 4.2). Of diagnosed patients, 51.72% (80,776) received all eight of the appropriate care processes in primary care. Relative to the population patients receiving appropriate care, 72.6% of diagnosed diabetics achieved HbA1c treatment targets. Finally, 91.62% of those with a diabetes diagnosis in primary care did not have a diabetes complication leading to hospital admission in the appropriate follow-up year (2017-18).

### Table 4.2 Populated levels of the ROH of GM and comparison cities

	GM			Compar	Comparison cities		
	Estimated total population = 2.87			Estimated total population = 1.32			
	million			million			
	Total	Estimated	prevalence	Total	Estimated prev	/alence	
	TOTAL	[95% CI]		Total	[95% CI]		
Survey data fro	m UKHLS (	(2015-17) aı	nd population	data fror	n ONS (mid-20 <sup>2</sup>	16)	
Diabetes	246 466	8 58% [6 5	1% 10 64%]	93 047	7 04% [4 29%:	9 79%]	
prevalence	240,400	0.00 /0 [0.0	170, 10.0 <del>4</del> 70j	55,047	7.0470 [4.2370,	5.7570]	
Administrative data from NDA (2016-17) and CCG OIS (2017-18)							
		% of	% of		% of previous	% of	
	Total	previous	registered	Total		registered	
		level	patients			patients	
Registrations	156,173	63.36%	100.00%	61,538	66.14%	100.00%	
Appropriate	80 775	51 72%	51 72%	36 156	58 75%	58 75%	
Care Quality	00,110	01.1270	01.1270	00,100	00.1070	00.1070	
Achieve							
Treatment	58,646	72.60%	37.55%	22,491	62.21%	36.55%	
Targets							
Without	143 083	N/A*	91 62%	56 010	N/A*	91 02%	
complications	1.10,000	1.1// 1	01.0270	50,010		01.0270	

Notes: diabetes prevalence estimated using UKHLS data for Wave 7 (2015-17); previous level refers to row above (as denominator); \*data on complications stratified by those achieving and not achieving treatment targets unavailable

Comparison cities were estimated to have higher rates of diagnosis in primary care than GM (66.14% vs. 63.37%), and higher rates of provision of appropriate care (58.76%) (Figure 4.2). However, GM has higher rates of achievement of HbA1c targets amongst patients receiving appropriate care (72.60% vs. 62.21%), and fractionally more GM patients with a record of diabetes were not admitted to hospital in the follow-up year for complications of diabetes (91.62% vs. 91.02%).

Figure 4.1: Estimated ROH for GM



Figure 4.2 Estimated ROH for comparison cities



### 4.2 Assessing how the prevalent population are represented in primary care registers

For GM, comparisons between estimated prevalence and known diagnosis in primary care indicate that adults under 40, people of white ethnic origin, males, and people from the most deprived neighbourhoods are relatively underdiagnosed in primary care (Figure 4.3).

# Figure 4.3 Representation of population sub-groups in survey (prevalence) vs. registration (diagnoses in care) data for GM



#### Comparing estimated diabetes prevalence and registrations in general practice by population sub-groups

### 4.3 Regression analyses of diabetes prevalence in GM

In GM, compared with those aged 40 and under: people aged 40-64 have odds of diabetes that are 3.68 times greater (95% CI [2.67; 5.06]); those aged 65-79 have odds 10.93 greater (95% CI [7.87; 15.18]); and those aged 80 and over have odds 9.05 times greater (Table 4.3).

Women have diabetes odds that are 0.55 times those of men (95% CI [0.46; 0.66]), and those resident in the most deprived 20% of areas have odds 1.45 times greater than those in the middle 20% by deprivation (95% CI [1.13; 1.87]). This compares with those in the least deprived 20% being 0.56 times as likely to have diabetes (95% CI [0.39; 0.80]).

N=8,767	Odds Ratio	P>z	[95%	CI]
Under 40	(reference gr	oup)		
Aged 40 to 64	3.68	0.00	2.67	5.06
Aged 65 to 79	10.93	0.00	7.87	15.18
Aged 80 and over	9.05	0.00	5.77	14.21
Female	0.55	0.00	0.46	0.66
White	(reference gr	oup)		
Minority	1.00	0.98	0.76	1.32
Unknown	1.98	0.36	0.45	8.67
1 (most deprived)	1.45	0.00	1.13	1.87
2	1.07	0.65	0.80	1.43
3 IMD Groups	(reference gr	oup)		
4	0.63	0.00	0.46	0.86
5 (least deprived)	0.56	0.00	0.39	0.80

#### Table 4.3: Analyses of diabetes prevalence for GM (Waves 1-7 of the UKHLS)

Notes: Model estimated using logistic regression in Stata; longitudinal weights applied; pseudo r-squared=0.11

Analyses restricted to wave 7 of the UKHLS (covering 2015-17 only) estimated relationships that were qualitatively equivalent to those estimated for waves 1-7 (Table 4.4).

N=779	Odds Ratio	P>z	[95%	CI]		
Under 40	(reference gr	oup)				
Aged 40 to 64	4.21	0.01	1.47	12.07		
Aged 65 to 79	10.45	0.00	3.55	30.70		
Aged 80 and over	9.96	0.00	2.49	39.83		
Female	0.68	0.15	0.39	1.16		
White	(reference gr	oup)				
Minority	0.75	0.52	0.32	1.78		
1 (most deprived)	2.59	0.02	1.13	5.95		
2	1.59	0.28	0.68	3.69		
3 IMD Groups	(reference group)					
4	0.85	0.74	0.33	2.22		
5 (least deprived)	0.43	0.19	0.12	1.52		
Constant	0.02	0.00	0.01	0.07		

Table 4.3: Analyses of diabetes prevalence for GM (Wave 7 of the UKHLS only)

Notes: Model estimated using logistic regression in Stata; longitudinal weights applied; pseudo r-squared=0.12

### 4.4 Analyses of care quality

#### Descriptive analyses

Figure 4.4 illustrates the relationship between the % of patients receiving all care processes and specific dimensions of the profile of practices' registered diabetes populations. Marker size in the scatter plot is proportional to the size of the registered diabetes populations for individual practices.

Practices with a higher proportion of younger patients had a lower rate of patients receiving appropriate care (Figure 4.4). The rate of patients receiving appropriate care

also decreases in practices with more patients from ethnic minority groups and from the most deprived areas (Figure 4.4).

## Figure 4.4: % of GM patients receiving appropriate care vs. % of diabetes registrations in population subgroups



% of patients receiving all care processes by composition of diabetes registrations

Note: dots represent general practices; dot size proportional to size of practice diabetic populations

Similar gradients were observed in terms of care quality in the comparison cities – except for across deprivation where there is a slight increase in the rate of patients receiving appropriate care in practices with more patients residing in the most deprived neighbourhoods (Appendix Figure 7.1).

#### Regression analyses

In GM, practices with a higher proportion of patients with a record of diabetes from the most deprived 40% of neighbourhoods had lower rates of patients receiving all eight care processes (Table 4.4): for each additional 10% of patients from these neighbourhoods, 0.76% fewer patients received appropriate care (95% CI [-1.30; -0.22]).

Practices with relatively fewer diagnosed diabetics had lower rates of patients receiving appropriate care: compared with practices with between 250 and 499 patients with a

diagnosis of diabetes, practices with fewer than 250 patients with a record of diabetes had 6.491% fewer patients receiving appropriate care (95% CI [-8.928; -4.054]).

# Table 4.4: regression analysis of % of receiving appropriate quality diabetes care vs. characteristics of practices' diabetic populations (2015-16 to 2018-19)

N=1,745, Adj. R-squared: 0.184	Coefficient	P>t	[95% CI	]
% under 40	0.076	0.665	-0.268	0.420
% 65-79	0.129	0.288	-0.109	0.366
% 80 +	-0.138	0.451	-0.496	0.221
% Female	-0.161	0.190	-0.402	0.080
% Minority	-0.032	0.292	-0.092	0.028
% Unknown	-0.011	0.662	-0.061	0.039
% from most deprived 40%	-0.076	0.006	-0.130	-0.022
Registered diabetics (< 250) = 1	-6.491	0.000	-8.928	-4.054
Registered diabetes (250-499)=1	(reference)			
Registered diabetics (500-749) = 1	3.486	0.002	1.266	5.706
Registered diabetics (750 +) = 1	1.676	0.332	-1.715	5.067
Year = 2015-16	(reference)			
Year = 2016-17	-2.137	0.113	-4.777	0.504
Year = 2017-18	5.074	0.000	2.513	7.634
Year = 2018-19	8.212	0.000	5.654	10.770
Constant	61.986	0.000	44.970	79.002

Notes: Model estimated using weighted linear regression in Stata; fixed effects for CCGs included but not shown; models estimated including robust standard errors; regression units are general practices

Conversely, practices with more registered patients with a recorded diagnosis of diabetes had higher rates of patients receiving all eight care processes: compared with practices with between 250 and 499 patients with a diagnosis of diabetes, practices with between 500 and 749 patients with a record of diabetes had 3.486% more patients receiving appropriate care (95% CI [-8.928; -4.054]).

Practice performance in terms of providing appropriate care quality improved across in the latter two years of the time period considered: relative to 2015-16; 5.074% more registered diabetic patients received all eight care processes in 2017-18 (95% CI [2.513; 7.634]); and 8.212% more in 2018-19 (95% CI [5.654; 10.770]).

Results for 2016-17 only were qualitatively similar (Appendix Table 7.1).

### 4.5 Analyses of treatment targets

### Descriptive analyses

Figure 4.5 illustrates the relationship between the % of patients achieving all three treatment targets and specific dimensions of the profile of practices' registered diabetes populations. Marker size in the scatter plot is proportional to the size of the registered diabetes populations for individual practices.

Practices with a higher proportion of registered diabetic patients who are male had on average higher rates of patients achieving treatment targets (Figure 4.5). Practices with a higher proportion of diabetes patients from ethnic minorities male had on average lower rates of patients achieving treatment targets, and the practices with higher proportions of patients under 40 had substantially worse performance in terms of patients achieving all three treatment targets. The same gradients were observed for comparison cities (Appendix Figure 7.2).

# Figure 4.5: % of GM patients achieving treatment targets vs. % of diabetes registrations in population subgroups



% of patients achieving treatment targets by composition of diabetes registrations

### Regression analyses

In GM, practices with a higher proportion of diabetic patients aged under 40 had lower rates of patients achieving treatment targets (Table 4.5): for each additional 10% of patients aged under 40, 2.83% fewer patients achieved these targets (95% CI [-4.17; - 1.49]). Whereas practices with a higher proportion of patients aged 65-79 had higher rates of patients achieving treatment targets: for each additional 10% of patients aged 65-79, 1.74% more patients achieved these targets (95% CI [0.81; 2.68]).

Practices with a higher proportion of female diabetic patients had lower rates of treatment target achievement: for each additional 10% of female patients, 1.94% fewer patients achieved these targets (95% CI [-2.87; -1.02]).

Practices with relatively fewer diagnosed diabetics had lower rates of patients receiving appropriate care: compared with practices with between 250 and 499 patients with a

Note: dots represent general practices; dot size proportional to size of practice diabetic populations

diagnosis of diabetes, practices with fewer than 250 patients with a record of diabetes had 6.491% fewer patients receiving appropriate care (95% CI [-8.928; -4.054]).

# Table 4.5: regression analysis of % achieving treatment targets vs.characteristics of practices' diabetic populations (2015-16 to 2018-19)

N=1,745, Adj. R-squared: 0.095	Coefficient	P>t	[95% CI	]
% under 40	-0 283	0 000	-0 417	-0 149
% 65-79	0.174	0.000	0.081	0.268
% 80 +	0.035	0.545	-0.078	0.147
% Female	-0.194	0.000	-0.287	-0.102
% Minority	0.044	0.000	0.022	0.067
% Unknown	0.003	0.692	-0.014	0.020
% from most deprived 40%	0.002	0.880	-0.018	0.021
Registered diabetics (< 250) = 1	0.641	0.175	-0.286	1.568
Registered diabetics (500-749) = 1	0.142	0.735	-0.682	0.966
Registered diabetics (750 +) = 1	-0.033	0.955	-1.166	1.100
Year = 2015-16	(reference)			
Year = 2016-17	0.980	0.051	-0.003	1.963
Year = 2017-18	1.276	0.009	0.316	2.237
Year = 2018-19	1.812	0.000	0.880	2.744
Constant	66.634	0.000	36.01 <u></u> 1	97. <u>25</u> 8
Notes: Model estimated using weighted	linear regressior	n in Stata	a; fixed ef	fects for

Notes: Model estimated using weighted linear regression in Stata; fixed effects for CCGs included but not shown; models estimated including robust standard errors; regression units are general practices

Practices with a higher proportion of diabetic patients from ethnic minorities had higher rates of treatment target achievement: for each additional 10% of patients from these groups, 0.44% more patients achieved these targets (95% CI [0.22; 0.67]).

Practice performance in terms of treatment target improved across the period from 2015-16 to 2018-19: on average, 1.812% more patients achieved these targets in 2018-19 compared with 2015-16.

Table 4.6: regression analysis of % achieving treatment targets vs.characteristics of practices' diabetic populations - including carequality as an explanatory variable (2015-16 to 2018-19)

N=1,745, Adj. r-squared: 0.170	Coefficient	P>t	[95% CI	]
% under 40 % 65-79 % 80 +	-0.291 0.160 0.050	0.000 0.001 0.318	-0.420 0.070 -0.048	-0.163 0.250 0.148
% Female	-0.177	0.000	-0.264	-0.089
% Minority % Unknown	0.048 0.005	0.000 0.583	0.026 -0.012	0.070 0.021
% from most deprived 40%	0.010	0.321	-0.010	0.030
Registered diabetics (< 250) = 1 Registered diabetics (500-749) = 1 Registered diabetics (750 +) = 1	1.359 -0.244 -0.218	0.003 0.547 0.702	0.477 -1.038 -1.337	2.242 0.551 0.900
Year = 2015-16 Year = 2016-17	<b>(reference)</b> 1.217	0.011	0.274	2.160
Year = 2017-18 Year = 2018-19	0.715 0.903	0.131 0.053	-0.213 -0.012	1.642 1.817
% receiving appropriate care	0.111	0.000	0.092	0.129
Constant	33.103	0.000	26.676	39.530

Notes: Model estimated using weighted linear regression in Stata; fixed effects for CCGs included but not shown; models estimated including robust standard errors; regression units are general practices

Table 4.6 repeats the analyses from Table 4.5, but includes the percentage of diabetic patients at individual practices receiving appropriate care as an explanatory variable.

The results are largely qualitatively similar. Practices with a higher proportion of diabetic patients receiving appropriate care had higher rates of treatment target achievement: for each additional 10% of patients receiving all eight care processes: 1.11% more patients achieved these targets (95% CI [0.92; 1.29]).

However, the estimated improvement in treatment target achievement in later years seen in Table 4.5 is no longer significantly different than in the reference year 2015-16. This may indicate the influence of substantial improvements in providing appropriate care quality in later years (Table 4.4) in driving improved treatment target achievement in these years.

Results for 2016-17 were qualitatively equivalent (Appendix Tables 7.2 and 7.3).

### 5.0 Discussion

### 5.1 Summary of key findings

Whilst the ROH is a useful heuristic, the 'halving' interpretation does not apply for GM. GM performs considerably better than 'half' in terms of primary care-recorded diagnosis of diabetes (as a proportion of estimated diabetes prevalence in the population). Just over half of those registered receive the appropriate quality of care, and less than 40% of patients with a diagnosis record of diabetes achieve appropriate treatment targets. We compared results for relatively comparable cities in the North of England, and the pattern of results was largely similar – though GM performed worse in terms of providing the appropriate care to those registered.

Analyses for subgroups in GM estimate that adults under 40 and men are relatively underrepresented in care records. Those with recorded white ethnicity are also estimated to be underrepresented, and those from the most deprived neighbourhood are also estimated to be underrepresented.

Practices with more diabetic patients from the most deprived neighbourhoods had lower rates of patients receiving the appropriate care quality, and practices with a relatively small number of diabetes patients also had lower rates of patients receiving appropriate care. Practices in GM improved substantially in terms of providing appropriate care quality to diabetes patients over the period from 2015-16 to 2018-19.

Practices serving a higher proportion of young diabetes patients (aged under 40) performed worse in terms of the percentages achieving diabetes treatment targets, as did those with a higher proportion of female patients. Practices' improvements in later years as regards providing appropriate care quality appeared to increase treatment target achievement in those later years.

### 5.2 Limitations

We used individual-level survey data from the UKHLS to estimate population prevalence of diabetes for GM and applied these estimates to population estimates from the ONS for GM. The strength of this approach lies in using non-administrative data to obtain an estimate of prevalence independent of access to care – and also in accurately describing the characteristics of the population with diabetes. However, such estimates have corresponding uncertainty.

The administrative data used to populate diagnoses, care quality, treatment targets and diabetes outcome (complications leading to hospital admission) were at an aggregatelevel (general practice level), and were not stratified according to population characteristics or other domains of interest. This meant that, for the latter pillars of the ROH, we could not use the ideal quantities in the denominator: for example, we did not have data on treatment target achievement split by those receiving and not receiving the appropriate care. We also did not have data on diabetes related outcomes according to those achieving and not achieving treatment targets. This limitation inherent in the data used does not permit full comparison across the levels for an ideal illustration of the ROH, and should be considered when interpreting the findings.

### 6.0 References

- 1. Clark D. Urban and rural population of the UK 2019 [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2021 Apr 19]. Available from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/984702/urban-and-rural-population-of-the-uk/
- 2. International Diabetes Federation. IDF diabetes atlas. Brussels: International Diabetes Federation; 2015.
- 3. Alirol E, Getaz L, Stoll B, Chappuis F, Loutan L. Urbanisation and infectious diseases in a globalised world. Lancet Infect Dis. 2011 Feb 1;11(2):131–41.
- 4. Napier AD, Nolan JJ, Bagger M, Hesseldal L, Volkmann A-M. Study protocol for the Cities Changing Diabetes programme: a global mixed-methods approach. BMJ Open. 2017 Nov;7(11):e015240.
- Allender S, Foster C, Hutchinson L, Arambepola C. Quantification of Urbanization in Relation to Chronic Diseases in Developing Countries: A Systematic Review. J Urban Health. 2008 Nov;85(6):938–51.
- Dagenais GR, Gerstein HC, Zhang X, McQueen M, Lear S, Lopez-Jaramillo P, et al. Variations in Diabetes Prevalence in Low-, Middle-, and High-Income Countries: Results From the Prospective Urban and Rural Epidemiological Study. Diabetes Care. 2016 May 1;39(5):780–7.
- Mufunda J, Ghebrat Y, Usman A, Mebrahtu G, Gebreslassie A. Underestimation of prevalence of raised blood sugar from history compared to biochemical estimation: support for the WHO rule of halves in a population based survey in Eritrea of 2009. SpringerPlus. 2015 Nov 24;4(1):723.
- 8. Hart JT. Rule of halves: implications of increasing diagnosis and reducing dropout for future workload and prescribing costs in primary care. Br J Gen Pract. 1992 Mar 1;42(356):116–9.
- 9. Kalra S, Saboo B, Sahay R, Khandelwal D, Talwar V, Unnikrishnan AG. The rule of two-thirds in diabetes epidemiology. Indian J Endocrinol Metab. 2017;21(1):242–4.
- Lerner AG, Bernabe-Ortiz A, Gilman RH, Smeeth L, Miranda JJ. The 'rule of halves' does not apply in Peru: Awareness, treatment, and control of hypertension and diabetes in rural, urban and rural-to-urban migrants. Crit Pathw Cardiol. 2013 Jun;12(2):53–8.
- 11. Holm AL, Andersen GS, Jørgensen ME, Diderichsen F. Is the Rule of Halves framework relevant for diabetes care in Copenhagen today? A register-based cross-sectional study. BMJ Open. 2018 Nov;8(11):e023211.

- 12. Sainsbury E, Shi Y, Flack J, Colagiuri S. The diagnosis and management of diabetes in Australia: Does the "Rule of Halves" apply? Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2020 Dec 1;170:108524.
- Wu AS, Dodhia H, Whitney D, Ashworth M. Is the rule of halves still relevant today? A cross-sectional analysis of hypertension detection, treatment and control in an urban community. J Hypertens. 2019 Dec;37(12):2470–2480.
- 14. Falaschetti E, Chaudhury M, Mindell J, Poulter N. Continued improvement in hypertension management in England: results from the Health Survey for England 2006. Hypertens Dallas Tex 1979. 2009 Mar;53(3):480–6.
- 15. Sheikh L, Nicholl BI, Green DJ, Bedson J, Peat G. Osteoarthritis and the Rule of Halves. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2014 Apr 1;22(4):535–9.
- 16. French DP, Hawkes RE, Bower P, Cameron E. Is the NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme Intervention Delivered as Planned? An Observational Study of Fidelity of Intervention Delivery. Ann Behav Med [Internet]. 2021 Feb 13 [cited 2021 Apr 19]; Available from: https://academic.oup.com/abm/advancearticle/doi/10.1093/abm/kaaa108/6134531
- 17. Valabhji J, Barron E, Bradley D, Bakhai C, Fagg J, O'Neill S, et al. Early Outcomes From the English National Health Service Diabetes Prevention Programme. Diabetes Care. 2020 Jan 1;43(1):152–60.
- 18. Chatzi G, Mason T, Chandola T, Whittaker W, Howarth E, Cotterill S, et al. Sociodemographic disparities in non-diabetic hyperglycaemia and the transition to type 2 diabetes: evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. Diabet Med. 2020;37(9):1536–44.
- 19. University of Essex I. United Kingdom Household Longitudinal Study Understanding Society [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2021 Jun 21]. Available from: https://beta.ukdataservice.ac.uk/datacatalogue/doi/?id=6614#!#12
- 20. ONS. Clinical commissioning group population estimates (National Statistics) [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2021 Jun 21]. Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/po pulationestimates/datasets/clinicalcommissioninggroupmidyearpopulationestimates
- 21. ONS. Rural Urban Classification (2011) of CCGs including population in England [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2021 Jun 21]. Available from: https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/datasets/ons::rural-urban-classification-2011-of-ccgs-including-population-in-england/explore
- 22. NHS Digital. National Diabetes Audit Report 1 Care Processes and Treatment Targets 2016-17 [Internet]. NHS Digital. 2018 [cited 2021 Jun 21]. Available from: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/national-diabetes-audit/national-diabetes-audit/national-diabetes-audit/national-diabetes-audit-report-1-care-processes-and-treatment-targets-2016-17
- 23. Cartwright C. National Diabetes Audit. 2017;9.

24. NHS Digital. CCG Outcome Indicator Set: Indicator 2.8 Complications associated with diabetes [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2021 Oct 7]. Available from: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/ccg-outcomes-indicator-set/october-2020/domain-2-enhancing-quality-of-life-for-people-with-long-term-conditions-ccg/2-8-complications-associated-with-diabetes

### 7.0 Appendix

# Figure 7.1: % of patients in comparison cities receiving appropriate care vs. % of diabetes registrations in population subgroups

% of patients receiving all care processes by composition of diabetes registrations



Note: dots represent general practices; dot size proportional to size of practice diabetic populations

N=438; Adj. R-squared: 0.131	Coefficient	P>t	[95% CI	[95% CI]	
% under 40	-0.116	0.744	-0.817	0.584	
% 65-79	0.059	0.796	-0.388	0.506	
% 80 +	-0.197	0.598	-0.933	0.538	
% Female	-0.170	0.494	-0.660	0.319	
% Minority	-0.085	0.179	-0.210	0.039	
% Unknown	-0.015	0.777	-0.120	0.089	
% from most deprived 40%	-0.091	0.104	-0.201	0.019	
			-		
Registered diabetics (< 250) = 1	-6.251	0.017	11.382	-1.121	
Registered diabetics (500-749) = 1	4.593	0.060	-0.203	9.389	
Registered diabetics (750 +) = 1	1.151	0.768	-6.519	8.821	
Constant	66 634	0 000	36 011	97 258	
Notes: Model estimated using weighted	linear regressio	n in Stat	a: fived e	ffects for	

Table 7.1: regression analysis of % of receiving appropriate qualitydiabetes care vs. characteristics of practices' diabetic populations(2016-17 only)

Notes: Model estimated using weighted linear regression in Stata; fixed effects for CCGs included but not shown; models estimated including robust standard errors; regression units are general practices

# Figure 7.2: % of patients from comparison cities achieving treatment targets according to % of registrations in subgroups



% of patients achieving treatment targets by composition of diabetes registrations

Note: dots represent general practices; dot size proportional to size of practice diabetic populations

N=438; Adj. R-squared: 0.113	Coefficient	P>t	[95% CI	]
% under 10	0.070	0.014	0.070	0.077
	-0.378	0.014	-0.678	-0.077
% 65-79	0.137	0.159	-0.054	0.329
% <b>80 +</b>	0.185	0.139	-0.060	0.430
% Female	-0.224	0.024	-0.419	-0.030
	0	0.02.		
% Minority	0.035	0.145	-0.012	0.081
% Unknown	0.011	0.527	-0.023	0.044
% from most deprived 40%	0.011	0 501	-0 020	0.051
	0.011	0.551	-0.023	0.001
Devision duties (000) 4	0.404	0.007	4 504	0.400
Registered diabetics (< 250) = 1	0.494	0.627	-1.504	2.493
Registered diabetics (500-749) = 1	-0.265	0.761	-1.976	1.446
Registered diabetics (750 +) = 1	0.252	0.835	-2.125	2.629
-				
Constant	42,168	0.000	28,536	55,800
	121100	0.000	20.000	00.000

Table 7.2: regression analysis of % achieving treatment targets vs. characteristics of practices' diabetic populations (2016-17 only)

Notes: Model estimated using weighted linear regression in Stata; fixed effects for CCGs included but not shown; models estimated including robust standard errors; regression units are general practices

Table 7.3: regression analysis of % achieving treatment targets vs. characteristics of practice's diabetic populations - including care quality as an explanatory variable (2016-17 only)

N=438; Adj. R-squared: 0.178	Coefficient	P>t	[95% CI]	
% under 40 % 65-79 % 80 +	-0.365 0.131 0.206	0.013 0.166 0.058	-0.651 -0.055 -0.007	-0.079 0.317 0.420
% Female	-0.206	0.030	-0.391	-0.021
% Minority % Unknown	0.044 0.012	0.062 0.470	-0.002 -0.021	0.090 0.046
% from most deprived 40%	0.021	0.314	-0.020	0.061
Registered diabetics (< 250) = 1 Registered diabetics (500-749) = 1 Registered diabetics (750 +) = 1	1.168 -0.760 0.128	0.221 0.376 0.915	-0.707 -2.444 -2.233	3.044 0.924 2.489
% receiving appropriate care	0.108	0.000	0.068	0.148
Constant	34.986	0.000	<u>21.54</u> 0	48.4 <u>3</u> 1

Notes: Model estimated using weighted linear regression in Stata; fixed effects for CCGs included but not shown; models estimated including robust standard errors; regression units are general practices

**For more information, please contact Tom Mason (thomas.mason@manchester.ac.uk)** Produced by Applied Research Collaboration Greater Manchester, January 2022 The information in this report is correct at the time of printing.

